

THERMAL Thermal Advantage<sup>TM</sup> = ADVANTAGE

Getting Started Guide

PN 925901.001 Rev. D Issued July 2000 © 1999, 2000 by TA Instruments 109 Lukens Drive New Castle, DE 19720

#### Notice

The material contained in this manual is believed adequate for the intended use of this instrument. If the instrument or procedures are used for purposes other than those specified herein, confirmation of their suitability must be obtained from TA Instruments. Otherwise, TA Instruments does not guarantee any results and assumes no obligation or liability. This publication is not a license to operate under or a recommendation to infringe upon any process patents.

TA Instruments Instrument, Data Analysis, and Utility Software and their associated manuals are proprietary and copyrighted by TA Instruments, Inc. Purchasers are granted a license to use these software programs on the instrument and controller with which they were purchased. These programs may not be duplicated by the purchaser without the prior written consent of TA Instruments. Each licensed program shall remain the exclusive property of TA Instruments, and no rights or licenses are granted to the purchaser other than as specified above.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

11

This License Agreement is your proof of license. Please treat it as valuable property.

This is a legal agreement between you (either an individual or an entity) and TA Instruments. By breaking the seal on your disk/CD-ROM package and/or loading this software, you agree to abide by the terms and conditions of this agreement. Failure to comply with the terms of this license terminates the agreement and your rights to use this software.

#### TA Instruments Software License

- GRANT OF LICENSE. This TA Instruments License Agreement ("License") permits you to use one copy of the specified version of the TA Instruments software product identified above ("SOFTWARE"), provided the SOFTWARE is in use on only one computer at any time. If you have multiple Licenses for the SOFTWARE, then at any time you may have as many copies of the SOFTWARE in use as you have Licenses. If the anticipated number of users of the SOFTWARE will exceed the number of applicable Licenses, then you must have a reasonable mechanism or process in place to assure that the number of persons using the SOFTWARE concurrently does not exceed the number of Licenses.
- 2. COPYRIGHT. The SOFTWARE is owned by TA Instruments or its suppliers and is protected by United States copyright laws and international treaty provisions. Therefore, you must treat the SOFTWARE like any other copyrighted material (*e.g.*, a book or musical recording).
- 3. OTHER RESTRICTIONS. This TA Instruments License Agreement is your proof of license to exercise the rights granted herein and must be retained by you. You may not rent or lease the SOFTWARE, but you may transfer your rights under this License Agreement on a permanent basis provided you transfer this License Agreement, the SOFTWARE, security key(s), and all accompanying written materials and retain no copies, and the recipient agrees to the terms of this Agreement. You may not reverse engineer, decompile, or disassemble the SOFTWARE. Any transfer of the SOFTWARE must include the most recent update and all prior versions.
- 4. NO WARRANTY: The software and documentation are provided on an "as is" basis and all risk is with you. TA Instruments makes no warranties, express, implied, or statutory, as to any matter whatsoever. In particular, any and all warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose or non-infringement of third parties rights are expressly excluded. Further, TA Instruments makes no representations or warranties that the software and documentation provided are free of errors or viruses or that the software and documentation are suitable for your intended use.

(continued on next page)

Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide

III

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: In no event shall TA Instruments or its suppliers be liable to you or any other party for any incidental, special, or consequential damages, loss of data, or data being rendered inaccurate, loss of profits or revenue, or interruption of business in any way arising out of or related to the use or inability to use the software and/or documentation, regardless of the form of action, whether in contract, tort (including negligence), strict product liability or otherwise, even if any representative of TA Instruments or its suppliers has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

This License Agreement represents the entire agreement concerning SOFTWARE between you and TA Instruments. It supersedes any prior proposal, representation, or understanding between the parties.

IV

## **TA Instruments Offices**

# For technical assistance or service in the United States:

When contacting TA Instruments, please have your controller key number or computer serial number ready. This helps us to give you the information that you need more quickly.



HELPLINE—U.S.A. For technical assistance with current or potential thermal analysis applications, please call the Thermal Analysis Help Desk at 1-302-427-4070.

SERVICE—U.S.A. For instrument service and repairs, please call 1-302-427-4050.

TA Instruments Ltd. Europe House, Bilton Centre Cleeve Road Leatherhead, Surrey KT22 7UQ England Telephone: 44-1372-360363 Fax: 44-1372-360135

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

V

TA Instruments GmbH Max-Planck-Strasse 11 D-63755 Alzenau Germany Telephone: 49-6023-9647-0 Fax: 49-6023-9647-77

TA Instruments Benelux Ottergemsesteenweg 461 B-9000 Gent Belgium Telephone: 32-9-220-79-89 Fax: 32-9-220-83-21

TA Instruments Japan No. 5 Koike Bldg. 1-3-12 Kitashinagawa Shinagawa-Ku, Tokyo 140 Japan Telephone: 813/3450-0981 Fax: 813/3450-1322

TA Instruments France B.P. 608 78056 Saint-Quentin-Yvelines Cedex France Telephone: 33-1-30-48 94 60 Fax: 33-1-30-48 94 51

TA Instruments Spain Waters Cromatografía, S.A. División TA Instruments Avda. Europa, 21. Pta. Baja 28108 Alcobendas Madrid, Spain Telephone: 34-91-661-8448 Fax: 34-91-661-0855

TA Instruments Australia Unit 3 38-46 South Street Rydalmere NSW 2116 Autstralia Telephone: 61-29-9331-705 Fax: 61-29-8981-455 TA Instruments Italy Division of Waters SpA via Achille Grandi 27 20090 Vimodrone (MI), Italy Telephone: 39-02-27421-1 Fax: 39-02-250-1827

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

VI

## **Table of Contents**

TA Instruments License Agreement iii TA Instruments Software License iii
TA Instruments Offices
Table of Contents vii
Using This Guidex
Notes, Cautions, and Warnings xi
Chapter 1: Installing Thermal Advantage 1-1
Welcome 1-1
System Requirements
Starting Windows NT® 1-3
Loading the Instrument Software 1-4
Chapter 2: Thermal Advantage and Windows NT® 2-1
Basic Windows NT Program Operation2-1Opening the Thermal Advantage Programs2-2Closing a Thermal Advantage Program2-3Switching Between Thermal Advantage Programs2-4Locating Advantage Files2-4Using Pop-up Menus2-5

 $Windows\,NT^{\scriptscriptstyle (\! 8\!)}$  is a trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide

VII

Chapter 3: Getting Started with Instrument Control 3-1
Overview 3-1
Instrument Control Basics
Main Controller Window
Bringing Instruments Online
Observing Instrument Information 3-4
Instrument Window
Switching Between Instrument Windows
Functions of the Panes 3-7
Sequence Pane 3-7
Experimental View Pane 3-7
Table View Pane 3-8
Signal Display Pane 3-8
Running Segment Pane 3-9
RealTime Plot Pane 3-9
Tool Bar & Instrument Menu 3-10
Basic Experimental Steps
Programming the Experiment
Using the Summary Page
Using the Procedure Page
Saving or Viewing a Procedure
Using the Notes Page
Creating Custom Methods
Importing/Exporting Methods
Creating and Editing Files
Adding Segments 3-24
Appending a Segment 3-24
Removing a Segment 3-25
Editing a Segment 3-25
Reordering Segments 3-25
Selecting Multiple Segments 3-25
Preparing the Instruments
Starting An Experiment 3-27
Monitoring Running Experiments 3-28

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

VIII -

Chapter 4: Universal Analysis	. 4-1
Overview	. 4-1
Thermal Advantage Universal Analysis	4-2
Choosing a Data File	. 4-3
Selecting Signals	4-5
Parts of the Window	4-7
Main Menu	4-8
Tool Bar	4-10
Performing Basic Program Operations	.4-11
Rescaling the Graph	4-11
Using the Zoom Box	4-11
Rescaling Using the Menu	4-13
Analyzing the Curve	4-15
Integrate Peak	4-17
Tips on Using Markers	
(Positioning and Selecting)	4-19
Active vs. Inactive Markers	4-19
Moving Active Markers	4-19
Activating a Marker	4-20
Entering Manual Limits for Markers	4-20
Printing Plots	4-21
	4 00
Generating and Viewing Reports	4-22
Viewing Reports	4-24
Opening the Spreadsheet Program	4-25
Creating a Custom Report Template	4-25
Basic Instructions on Creating a Template	4-26
Saving the Results and the Program Session	4-29
Exiting the Program	4-29

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

# **Using This Guide**

This guide provides detailed information on installing the TA Instruments *Thermal Advantage* software and basic operational instructions.

The following information is presented:

- system requirements
- about *Thermal Advantage*
- loading instrument software
- using programs on Windows® NT
- basic information on using *Thermal Advantage* Instrument Control
- general information on how to use *Thermal Advantage* Universal Analysis.

Windows® is a trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

x

## Notes, Cautions, and Warnings

The following conventions are used throughout this guide to point out items of importance to you as you read through the instructions.

A NOTE highlights important information about equipment or procedures.



A CAUTION emphasizes a procedure that may damage equipment or cause loss of data if not followed correctly.



A WARNING indicates a procedure that may be hazardous to the operator or to the environment if not followed correctly.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

ΧI

XII -



# Installing Thermal Advantage

### Welcome

Thank you for purchasing TA Instruments *Thermal Advantage. Thermal Advantage* makes it easy for you to set up and control the various thermal analysis instruments that are available from TA Instruments through the use of familiar tool bars, menus, and windows.

A unique and comprehensive data analysis program enables analysis of data from any TA thermal instrument.

If you need help or information while using your *Thermal Advantage* software, context-sensitive help is available, as well as a comprehensive online manual.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 1-1

## **System Requirements**

Installation and use of TA Instruments *Thermal Advantage* depends on the appropriate hardware, configurations, and software. If you need to obtain any of the items listed below, contact your TA Instruments representative.

## Hardware and Other Software

You will need to have the following:

- A personal computer that runs Windows® NT Version 4.0 or higher. (Service Pak 4 or higher for Windows NT® V4.0 is required.)
- 90 to 100 MB of fixed disk space above that required by NT. An additional 640 MB of fixed space is needed to install the optional instructional videos.
- A two-button mouse or other pointing device.
- A National Instruments GPIB board (PCI, PCMCIA, or AT-GPIB, or ISA card) and driver software, if you will be running the instrument controller component of *Thermal Advantage*.
- *Thermal Advantage* system and / or remote key.

Windows® is a trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

1-2 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

# **Starting Windows NT®**

Logging on is the process used to identify yourself to the computer by entering your name and password. This will identify you as an authorized user and helps maintain security.

To log on to Windows NT, press CTRL + ALT + DELETE when you see the **Begin Logon** dialog box.

When you receive your controller from TA Instruments, the user name on the **Logon Information** window will be "Administrator" with no password. You can establish or change the user accounts by accessing **Programs\Admin Tools\User Manager**menu from the **Start** menu.

# Loading the Instrument Software

To properly configure the instruments with the controller, you will need to load new instrument software now and periodically thereafter, as new updates are received. Use the SCROLL key on the instrument keypad, if available, to access and view the software version currently loaded in your instrument. Check this against the latest version. If you need to update the software, follow these directions:

NOTE: Instruments that do not have the proper version of the software will not configure with the controller.



CAUTION: This procedure will return the instruments to their default settings (for Experimental and Instrument Parameters). The method(s) stored in the instrument <u>will be lost</u>, along with the following calibration parameters:

- Temperature Calibration Table\* (exception: DSC 2920)
- Cell Calibration\* for DSC 2910/2010 and TMA 2940
- Tare for TGA 2950/2050 and SDT 2960
- DTA Baseline Calibration\* for SDT 2960
- Probe Calibration for TMA 2940
- Clamp Calibration for DMA 2970
- Sensor Calibration\* for DEA 2970

\* You can preserve these calibrations by writing them down before downloading the new instrument software, then reentering the values.

- 1. Check that the instruments are connected to the controller properly, and that their POWER switches are turned on.
- 2. Press and hold the STOP key on the instrument keypad while you press the instrument Reset button or turn the instrument on. (See the instrument operator's manual for their location.)

1-4 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

- 3. Continue holding the STOP key until the instrument display reads "Module loader Vx.x" or the Ready light comes on. The instrument will go offline with the controller, if it was previously online.
- 4. Start the Instrument Control program. (If the Instrument Control window is already open, select **Instruments/Reconfigure**.) The system will automati-

cally display a window such as the one shown here (it may differ depending upon the instrument).

Peard Ture	Marajan	Required	- Rank	Momoru Tuno
10C				EEDBOM Tupe 2
	0	0	1	EEPBOM Tupe-2
DSC2910	0	0	2	EEPBOM Tupe-2
Download Dire	ectory: C: VP	iogram Files (TA Ir	istruments v	i nema Advantage
	<u>Start</u>	) Stop		Help
	-			

NOTE: The default directory is Program Files\TA Instruments\Thermal Advantage\ldr. If you are installing Modulated TGA software, access the MTGA subdirectory located in the ldr directory.

5. SelectStart.

Downloading of the instrument software will begin as a window is displayed tracking the progress (shown here).

strument Loader F	Progress - Ma	odule Loa	der ( 4)			?
Current State:	Bootin	g download	ded 2nd stag	je loader		
	0	20	40	60 I	80 I	100
Progress:						-

Module Loader ( 4) 🛛 🗙
Instrument has gone offline:
OK

When the downloading has been completed, the instrument will go offline and a message will appear as seen in the figure here.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

- 6. Select **OK** to clear the message.
- 7. Repeat steps 1 through 6 for each instrument and then reconfigure the instruments online with the controller. (See Chapter 3 or the online documentation to reconfigure the instruments with the controller.)

NOTE: It is normal to see an Error 15 on the instrument after new instrument software has been loaded. Press the STOP key on the instrument keypad to clear the error.

1-6 — Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide



# Thermal Advantage and Windows NT®

# Basic Windows NT Program Operation

The TA Instruments *Thermal Advantage* software operates on a Windows NT operating system. For this reason we will briefly discuss some of the more common operations that you will be using during program operation. For more details refer to the literature and online information accompanying the operating system.

Windows® is a trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 2-1

## **Opening the Thermal** Advantage Programs

The Thermal Advantage programs are opened and closed the same way any other NT program is handled.

To open a program, use the Start/Programs/TA Thermal Advantage menu or establish a program shortcut as instructed in the Windows NT® literature.

Ģ	G Caere Applications	۲	🚮 Accessory Loader
	g Diskeeper	•	🔉 Advantage User's Manual
Ģ	), Iomega Tools for Windows NT	۲	📷 B&D Kinetics
9	J Microsoft Reference	⊁	📷 Heat Capacity
nt 🕠	), Microsoft Visual C++ 5.0	►	🔚 Isothermal Kinetics
Ģ	j Norton AntiVirus	⊁	🔜 Purity
ent 🖸	g, Olympus Digital Vision	►	🞳 TA Advantage Control
	g, Pictra Album	⊁	🔚 TGA Kinetics
	g, QuickTime	⊁	🔄 Thermal Advantage Key Feature Viewer
- • Q	g, Rheology Advantage	►	📷 Thermal Stability
, Ç	B RoboHELP Office	۲	📉 TTS Data Analysis
j 🕻	ðj, Startup	►	🍕 Universal Analysis
- • 🚺	3, TA Thermal Advantage	►	🔉 Universal Analysis Manual
Ģ	J Ulead PhotoImpact 3.01 Special Edition	F	
Ģ	ij, WinZip	►	
Ģ	g, XferPro 32	►	
٥	Microsoft Access		
Σ	🗧 Microsoft Excel		
1	Microsoft Outlook		
			Caere Applications Diskeeper Image:

2–2 - Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

## Closing a Thermal Advantage Program

To close a *Thermal Advantage* program, click on the close (X) button in the upper-right corner of the main window or select **Close** from the drop-down menu (displayed when you click on the program icon button in the upper-left corner of the main window). See the figure below.

Drop-down Mer	nu		Close Button
/			$\sim$
Thermal Advanta	ge - [TGA-DTA - 2	960 SDT (F 7)]	
<u>R</u> estore	⊻iew <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> e	p	_ <u>- 8 ×</u>
<u>M</u> ove	Calibrate Tools	View	
<u>5</u> ize Mi <u>n</u> imize Maximize	>   🔀 🔜	I 🗐 📖 🛱 🏧 🔣 🗊 🔢 ဲ 🌌	GPIB
Chara Alta E4	B°C 0.000 Stand By		
Sequence + Run 1	Summary Procedure Sample Information Sample Name	Notes       Calcium Oxalate	Run Time: Segment Time: Set Point Temp: Heater Power:
	Comments Data File	Under nitrogen c:\ta\data\sdt\data.dbc	I In Equilibrate at 50
	Autoanalyze	(None)	
	Procedure — Mode	TGA-DTA	Calcium Oxalate
	Test	Custom	2.00- () () () () () () () () () ()
╡	Run 1	Append Run Apply Undo Help	E #1.00 Temperature
For Help, press F	1	🔣 2910 DSC ( 旭 2920 DSC () 🖳 2950 TGA	A H 🔮 2940 TMA ( 😂 🗾 🏸

Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide 2-3

### Switching Between Thermal Advantage Programs

To switch between Instrument Control and Universal Analysis, click on the taskbar button representing the program that you want to use.

If you are running one of the DOS data analysis programs, use Ctrl-Esc to return to the desktop or Crtl-Tab to switch programs.

NOTE: To get more detailed information regarding these procedures, see the Windows NT® literature.

#### Locating Advantage Files

When you start to use the *Thermal Advantage* programs, you will need to use specific directories or folders to store and retrieve your procedure, data, sequence and method files. To locate these files, follow the instructions found in the Windows NT literature. You can locate files using the My Computer icon on the desktop. The TA Instruments data files are stored in the TA\DATA\[Instrument] directory, unless you have changed this setting using the **Tools/User Preferences** properties.

## Using Pop-up Menus

Throughout the *Thermal Advantage* program there are several pop-up menus that can be used to edit fields and perform various functions. To display pop-up menus:

- 1. Position the pointer on the field or in an empty area of the window.
- 2. Click the right mouse button.

NOTE: The contents of a pop-up menu can change depending on the window, location of the pointer in the window, or the current state of the window.

Arrows to the right of a menu choice (as shown here) indicate that there are additional menu choices available. A series of dots after the menu name indicates that selecting this menu item opens a window.



Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 2–5

2-6 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

# *Chapter 3* Getting Started with Instrument Control

## **Overview**

Before you begin this section, we recommend that you familiarize yourself with the basic operation of the Windows NT® system. Refer to Chapter 2 of this guide for a few general tips to get you started.

This chapter provides you with a brief explanation of Instrument Control and general guidelines for setting up an experiment. For further details refer to the online manual that accompanies the *Thermal Advantage* software (accessed by selecting **Help/Manual**).

## **Instrument Control Basics**

Instrument Control allows you to control and set up the instruments that you have connected online to the controller.

Before starting Instrument Control, check that the instruments are connected to the controller and their POWER and HEATER switches are turned on. For further details regarding the connection and operation of the instrument refer to the appropriate instrument operator's manual.

To start Instrument Control, select **Start/Programs/TA Thermal Advantage/TA Advantage Control** or double click on the program shortcut (if available). The following steps occur:

- The program first checks to see that you have properly installed the *Thermal Advantage* key (see Chapter 1 for details).
- The Controller window appears and automatically configures any instruments that are online with the controller. When instrument windows are displayed, the Controller window appears as a background window with a menu across the top. See page 3-5 for an illustration.
- The Instrument Control window(s) for any instruments online with the controller are displayed within the main Controller window. Each instrument window title bar identifies that instrument type as well as the GPIB address. If no Instrument Control windows appear, follow the directions on page 3-3 to reconfigure your instruments.

This chapter gives you basic information on each of these windows.

3–2

## Main Controller Window

The **Controller** menu, displayed at the top of the Controller window, is used for overall control of the instruments online. You can configure instruments online, see



an overview of the instrument status, switch between the instrument windows, and close the program.

If your instrument windows are not automatically opened with the Controller window, follow the instructions below to bring them online.

#### Bringing Instruments Online

Select **Instruments/Reconfigure** from the **Controller** menu. All of the instruments that are powered up and connected to the controller will be reconfigured and brought online. (Each instrument online must have a unique GPIB address between 1 and 9.) The **Reconfigure** function is also used to bring an instrument online in the Loader Mode to install new instrument software.

NOTE: Instruments that do not have the proper level of instrument software may not come online. You need to install new software for those instruments. Refer to Chapter 1 for software installation instructions.

NOTE: DSC Autosampler Configuration Only: If you are configuring a DSC Autosampler, a GPIB buffer cable is required. Contact your service representative to obtain this buffer cable (only one cable is required per applicable controller).

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-3

### **Observing Instrument Information**

You can configure from one to eight instruments online with the controller at one time. To view the status of all instruments that are online, select **Instruments/Overview All Instruments** from the**Controller** menu to display the **Overview All Instruments** window. This window provides several viewing options. See the online documentation for further details.



## **Instrument Window**

Once you have configured your instruments online with the controller, you should see a display that is similar to the one shown here. This figure shows the parts of the window (DSC is the example shown), which will be explained briefly in this section.

Controller	Instrument	Tool Bar		
Menu	Menu	(DSC Shown)		
\	$\backslash$	/		
Thurmal Advar	ntage - [DSC - 2910Auto (F 1)]		_ 🗆 ×	
	:s ⊻iew <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp		<u>-8×</u>	
Control Experimen	ital Calibrate Tools View			
		👼 17270 🔣 🖾 🗓 🔉 🖥	<u>√</u> <b>₽</b>	Cignol
Run 1 Calib	28.3°C 0.000 Stand By			Signal
🗅 🖻 🖬	Summary Procedure Notes		Run Time: 0.00 Segment Time: 0.00	Display
Sequence + • Run 1	Sample Information		Set Point Temp: 0.00 Heater Power: 0.00	Pane
	Sample Name Calcium Oxalate			
	Sample Size 0.0000 m	g Pan No. 2 🔆 Ref. 1 🐳		
	Comments Under nitrogen			Running
	Data File C:\TA\Data\DSC	Enter comments to store with data (up to 64 ch Data.dat	aracters)	<ul> <li>Segment</li> <li>Pane</li> </ul>
	Autoanalyze (None>			i uno
1	Analysis Macro			
	Procedure		Calcium Oxalate	
	Mode DSC		§2.00-	
	Test Custom		§1.50-	
₽, 2**			₩ 1.00- ₩ 1.00 125 140 125 2.00	
† + 🞚	Run I Append Run	Apply Unde Help	Temperature	
For Help, pless F1		1 2910 E Auto 1 2 2950 1 2920	2940 🗖 2970 🚝 2960 🕶 2980 🥢	
		/	/	
Pane	Experimental	Instrument	RealTime	
	View Pane	Task Bar	PlotPane	

Instrument windows are basically divided into 3 sections:

- The left pane displays the sequence (or run) list.
- The middle pane is used to display either the Experimental, Table, or RealTime Plot views.
- The right side panes contain the signal display information and the running method information. The lower right pane shows a thumbnail view of the realtime plot information when either Experimental or Table View is displayed.



### Switching Between Instrument Windows

There may be one or more Instrument windows displayed within the Controller window at one time. The window title bar identifies the instrument type. To switch between windows you can just click on the desired window, if visible, or use the **Windows** menu. In addition, an instrument task bar is displayed at the bottom of controller window to facilitate quick switching between the instrument windows. Positioning the mouse pointer over one of the instrument icon displayed in the task bar will show the complete instrument identification (mode, instrument model, and GPIB address). Clicking on the current instrument window (*e.g.*, indented icon) will minimize that instrument window.

#### Functions of the Panes

Each window pane allows you to perform certain functions while keeping other operations in view. The basic function of each pane is described as follows:

#### Sequence Pane

The **Sequence Pane** (available in multi-run mode only) displays the list of runs that are contained in the current sequence. Up to ten runs may be preprogrammed (up to 65 for autosampler instruments). The run with the arrow next to it is the scheduled run, the run that will execute when Start is selected. Buttons are available in this pane to add and delete runs in the sequence.

#### Experimental View Pane

The **Experimental View Pane** contains the complete sample and procedure information for each run contained in the

Summary A Summ	ary B   Procedure   Notes   ation
o ampio r r mioni	
Sample Name	Calcium Oxalate
Sample Size	0.0000 mg Pan No. 2 - Ref. 1 -
Comments	Under nitrogen
Data File	c:\ta\data\dsc\data.dbj
Autoanalyze	C:\Program Files\TA Instruments\Thermal Solutions\Wi
Analysis Macro	Autqueue 1
Procedure	
Mode	Standard
Test	Isothermal
Bun 1	Appand Pure Apply [Fields Held

sequence. The information that is currently



🗅 🖻 日

Sequence

Run 1
Run 2

Run 3

displayed is applicable to the selected (*i.e.*, highlighted) run number on the **Sequence Pane**. Use this view as the primary view to set up experiments (**Experimental View—Summary Page** shown here). See "Programming the Experiment" on page 3-14 for information on setting up each page of the **Experimental View Pane**.

#### Table View Pane

The **Table View** provides an alternative to the **Experimental View** for setting up and editing sample information for a sequence of runs. Use this view to change key sample information for each run in a spreadsheet format, except

for the instrument mode. The best way to use this view is to completely set up one run using the **Experimental View**. Then you can use

equence	A#	B#	Ref#	Sample Name A	Sample Name B	Size A	Size B	Comment A	Com
Run 1	2	3	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Run 2	4	5	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Run 3	6	7	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Run 4	8	9	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Run 5	1	1	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Run 6	1	1	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde
Bun 7	1	1	1	Calcium Oxalate	Sample B name	0.000000	0.000000	Under nitrogen	Unde

the same procedure on other samples by simply changing the sample information. The specifics of the selected procedure cannot be changed in this view (switch to **Experimental View** to change the procedure).

#### Signal Display Pane

0.00	штп
0.00	min
0.00	°C
0.00	watts
	0.00 0.00 0.00

If you want to view the instrument's output signals, use the **Signal Display Pane**. See the help system for an explanation of these signals.

3–8

#### Running Segment Pane

When a run is in progress, you can see which method segment the instrument is processing in the procedure by viewing the **Running Segment Pane**. To modify the running procedure, right click inside this pane to open a pop-up menu and click on



**Modify Running Method** or **Go To Next Segment**. For more information on this function, consult the online documentation.

#### RealTime Plot Pane

	/ Sample B name	
2.00-		
1.80-		
≨1.60-		
§1.40-		
正 1.20- 형		
±1.00-		
0.80-		
Temperature		

To watch the data points as they are collected from the instrument during a run, look at the **RealTime Plot Pane**. You can customize the way the plot is displayed by changing the axis signals, colors and fonts used. Right-click inside the **RealTime Plot Pane** to display the menu available for these functions.

NOTE: You can resize all of these panes just like you resize windows, by pulling the sides or corners using the double-headed arrows. When you close the *Advantage* program, the views and pane sizes are automatically saved for future recall.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-9

## Tool Bar & Instrument Menu

The tool bar provides access to all of the basic controls and windows necessary to run an experiment. Each instrument contains an instrumentspecific menu and tool bar to control and set up experiments. The table below summarizes each of the items contained on the tool bar. You can also access these items and others through the instrument menu.

Button	Function
	<b>Start:</b> Use Start to begin an experiment. Start executes the first step in the scheduled run.
	<b>Stop:</b> Use Stop to halt an experiment and save the data. Selected Post Test functions will activate after this action.
	<b>Reject:</b> Use Reject on the Control menu to halt an experiment and discard the data.
JJ	<b>Hold:</b> Use Hold to suspend an experiment, maintain- ing the current temperature conditions, until you resume or stop the method.
	<b>Resume:</b> Use Resume to continue the method that was put on hold, continuing with the suspended segment.
	<b>RealTime Plot Full Screen View:</b> Use this button to display the RealTime Plot window in full screen view.
	<b>RealTime Plot Pane View:</b> Use this button to display the RealTime Plot window in the middle pane along with the Sequence Pane, Signal Display Pane, and Running Segment Pane.
	<b>Experimental Pane View:</b> Use this button to display the Experimental Pane along with the Sequence Pane, Signal Display Pane, Running Segment Pane, and a small (thumbnail) view of RealTime Plot.
	(table continued)

Button	Function
	<b>Table Pane View:</b> Use this button to display the Table View Pane along the Signal Display Pane, Running Segment Pane, and a small (thumbnail) view of RealTime Plot.
	<b>Mode Parameters:</b> Use this button to open the Mode Parameters window.
M	<b>DSC Autosampler Reset:</b> Use this button to reset the DSC Autosampler
Ĵ	<b>LNCA/GCA Fill</b> (DSC, DMA, and DEA only): Use this button to to have the appropriate cooling accessory automatically refilled from a low-pressure bulk storage tank while an experiment is not active.
<u>V</u>	<b>Calibration Analysis</b> (DSC, SDT, TMA only): Use this button to access the analysis functions used to analyze calibration files.
	<b>TGA/SDT Tare:</b> Use this button to automatically tare the instrument.
	<b>TGA Weight Calibration:</b> Use this button to begin the weight calibration procedure.
	<b>TMA Probe Calibration:</b> Use this button to begin calibrating a TMA probe.
	<b>DMA Clamp Calibration:</b> Use this button to begin calibrating a DMA clamp.
	(table continued,

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-11

Button	Function
R	<b>DEA Electronic Calibration:</b> Use this button to calibrate the DEA electronics.
<b>F</b>	<b>User Preferences:</b> Use this button to open the User Preferences window.
	<b>Error Log:</b> Use this button to open the Error Log window.
<b>*</b>	<b>Wizard:</b> Use this button to start the Wizard.
~	<b>Universal Analysis:</b> Use this button to open or recall the Universal Analysis program.

3-12 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE
## **Basic Experimental Steps**

The following steps are a guide for conducting a typical thermal analysis experiment. Once you are comfortable with the basic experimental setup, consult the *Thermal Advantage* online help for details on the full utilization of the program. This guide only presents basic information to get you started.

- 1. Select the desired instrument for your experiment (if you are running a multi-instrument system). To do this, use the **Window** menu found on the **Controller** menu or the click on the desired button on the instrument task bar.
- 2. Select the instrument mode using the Experimental/Mode menu or

click the  $\downarrow_{\bullet\bullet}^{\text{MODE}}$  button on the tool bar.

3. Select the desired technique to set up your experiment—click the

button to access the **Experimental View** or click the **button** to start the **Wizard** functions.

- 4. Set up all the sample and procedure information through the **Experimental View**. See "Programming the Experiment" on the next page for more detailed information.
- 5. Prepare the instrument (*i.e.*, load pans or cups, tare the instrument, etc.)
- 6. Schedule the run.
- 7. Start the experiment by selecting **Control/Start** or click the Start button on the tool bar.
- 8. Monitor the real-time signals, plot, and method progress.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-13

### Programming the Experiment

To set up your experiment, access the Experimental View by selecting

from the tool bar or by selecting **View/Experimental** from the appropriate instrument menu. The **Summary Page** (Dual Sample DSC shown here) is displayed.

Summary A Summ	ary B Procedure Notes
Sample A Inform	ation
Sample Name	Calcium Oxalate
Sample Size	0.0000 mg Pan No. 2 💌 Ref. 1 💌
Comments	Under nitrogen
Data File	c:\ta\data\dsc\data.dbj
Autoanalyze	C:\Program Files\TA Instruments\Thermal Solutions\Wi
Analysis Macro	Autqueue 1
Procedure	
Mode	Standard
Test	Isothermal
Run 1	Append Run Apply Undo Help

You need to check and update the **Summary**, **Procedure**, and **Notes** pages with the correct information prior to starting each experiment. Once this information is correct, click on either the **Apply** button to save these changes or the **Append Run** button to save these changes and add another run to the end of the sequence.

For more details on how to use the three **Experimental View** pages, turn to the next three sections.

3-14 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

### Using the Summary Page

The **Summary Page** (shown on the previous page) is used to enter the basic information needed to create a run. You can set up the sample name, size (if applicable), pan number (if applicable), and data file; enter comments about the run; turn on the Autoanalyze feature; and choose the test to be used.

To use the **Summary Page**, follow these directions:

1. Before setting up your experiment verify that the mode displayed is the one you want the instrument to use. If the mode is not correct, select

Experimental/Mode from the instrument menu or click the

button on the tool bar. Then you can select the mode you want to use.

- 2. Enter the Sample Name.
- 3. Enter the Sample Size, if applicable to your instrument.
- 4. Autosampler instruments only: Specify the Pan No.(s).
- 5. Enter any Comments.
- 6. Enter a data filename by clicking on the Browse button to the right of Data File, then select the desired storage location and enter in a filename. Click OK when finished.
- 7. If you want to automatically analyze the resulting data file using a macro (created with the Universal Analysis Autoanalysis software option), check the Autoanalyze box. Then locate the desired macro filename using the Browse button. Click on the Analysis Macro list and select a macro from those displayed. For more information on Autoanalysis, see the Universal Analysis online help or manual.
- 8. DMA instruments only: Select the clamp to be used from the drop-down list of available clamps. (If you change clamps you will be prompted to perform clamp calibration.)
- 9. *DMA instruments only*: Select the sample shape from the list and enter the sample's dimensions in the specified units.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-15

- 10. Select the type of test you want to use from the drop-down Test list available. The list contains both preprogrammed tests (test templates) and a custom test. The option you choose will depend on the specific method you wish to perform.
- 11. Check the available template options to see if any of those meet your needs. You can view a summary of the chosen procedure by selecting

the 🗮 button. If you want to use your own procedure, rather than a

preprogrammed test, select the Custom test. This allows you to create a customized method or to load an existing method file (\*.mth). (To change any of the information, except for the mode, select the **Proce-**

**dure Page**.) To open a saved procedure file, click the 🖆 button. The procedure file will be added to the test list once you have selected it.

- 12. When you have finished setting up this run summary, you should verify the information contained on the **Procedure Page** and the **Notes Page**.
- 13. Click the **Apply** button to apply the information on this page to the current run.

NOTE: In the case of a Dual Sample DSC, there are two **Summary Pages**, one for each sample.

### Using the Procedure Page

After you choose a test on the **Summary Page**, the **Procedure Page** (shown to the right with a test selected) reflects the information contained in that test and will vary accordingly.

 If you choose one of the common test templates on the Summary Page, which are specific to each instrument, the

Summary A	Summary B	Procedure No	ites									
F Procedu	re Information											
Test	Isothermal											
Notes	Notes Material is heated rapidly to an elevated temperature and held.											
_ Method												
Start tem	iperature	200.00		°C	Advanced							
Switch to	o Gas 2	C Yes	No		Post Test							
Isotherm	al time:	100.00		min								
End 🗌	experiment wh	en mW < 💌	0.50									
Run 1	A	opend Run	Apply	Undo	Help							

**Procedure Page** reflects the information that you will need to enter to set up your run using that test.

Summary A Summary B Procedure Notes	1
Test Custom	
Notes	×
_ Method	
Name Current Instrument Data	Editor
1	Advanced Post Test
Run 1 Append Run Apply Unde	Help

• If you choose a Custom test on the **Summary Page**, you can switch to the **Procedure Page** (shown to the left with Custom test selected) and then use the **Editor** button to make changes to the method listed. See "Creating Custom Methods" on page 3-22 for more information.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-17

To use the **Procedure Page**, follow these directions:

- 1. View the current test displayed (you can select a new test on the **Summary Page**).
- 2. Type any notes that you want to write about the test you will be running, if Custom test was selected. A preprogrammed test template will display notes specific to the test chosen.
- 3. Enter the requested method parameters, if you choose one of the test templates. However, if you chose a Custom test, click the **Editor** button to display the **Method Editor** window. This allows you to create a customized method or load an existing method file (\*.mth). See "Creating a Custom Method" on page 3-22 for more details.
- 4. Click the **Advanced** button to display the **Advanced Parameters** window applicable to the current instrument. If desired, you can change the parameters that the instrument will use to perform the experimental run.
- 5. Click the **Post Test** button to display the current **Post Test** window. If desired, you can change the conditions that will apply at the end of the run (method-end conditions).
- 6. When you have finished setting up this procedure you should verify the information contained on the **Summary** and the **Notes Pages**.
- 7. Click the **Apply** button when finished to save these changes or click the **Append Run** button to add another run to the end of the sequence.

### Saving or Viewing a Procedure

To save a test template to a procedure file, click on the 📮 button on the

**Procedure Page**. To view a summary of the saved procedure file, open the **Procedure File Utility** window using **Tools/Procedure File Utility** selected from the instrument menu.

NOTE: You can use any test template as the basis for a Custom test by selecting the desired test template from the list of tests, then click the **Apply** button and change the test to Custom on the **Summary Page**. Then you can click on the **Procedure Page** and then the **Editor** button to make the changes desired.

### Using the Notes Page

Most instruments have a very similar **Notes Page**. This page is used to enter or select additional information to be stored with the data file.

To enter or select the additional information for your experiment, follow these steps:

1. Enter the name of the Operator conducting the thermal analysis experiment. Up to 25 characters may be

entered.

	Summary A Su	mmary B Procedure No	otes	
	⊢ Notes ——			
or	Operator	John Smith		
	Pan Type	Aluminum		•
	Extended Te	×t Extend text		<u>^</u>
ne				<b>V</b>
ig al	- Purge Gas Se	ettings		
ai	Gas #1	Nitrogen 💌	Flow Rate 10mL/min	
nt.	Gas #2	None	Flow Rate	
s				
	Run 1	Append Run	Apply Undo	Help

- 2. *DSC*, *TGA*, *and SDT only*: Specify the Pan Type used for this experiment from the list of available pans.
- *3. TMA only:* Specify the Probe Type used for this experiment from the list of available options.
- 4. Enter any Extended Text to include additional information about the sample or experiment, such as sample treatment or data sampling parameters. Up to 500 alphanumeric characters may be entered (approximately 12 lines).
- 5. Select the primary purge environment (Gas #1) and flow (including units) used in the experiment from the list of available choices. If no purge gas is used, select None from the list. You may also enter in your own purge gas name (up to 9 characters). In DMA, specify the Air Bearing Gas.

- 6. DSC, TGA, and SDT only: Select the secondary purge environment (Gas #1) and flow (including units) used in the experiment from the list of available choices. If no purge gas is used, select None from the list.
- 7. Click the **Apply** button to apply the information on this page to the current run.

NOTE: These gas entries do not actually control which gas is currently flowing through the instrument, but merely indicate which gases are plumbed to the instrument. For example, oxidative stability experiments use nitrogen for the primary gas and oxygen for the secondary gas.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-21

# **Creating Custom Methods**

When you select a Custom test, which lets you set up your own experimental parameters, you can click the **Editor** button on the **Procedure Page** to display the **Method Editor** window (shown here). This window is used to create a custom method by building or modifying a preprogrammed series of instructions, called segments, to be executed by the instrument. The

ŀ	Met	nod Editor for 2920Auto (F 4)					? ×
	Metho	od Contents		n e r	al s	egment Types	-
		<u>jourient instrument bata</u>			1	Jump †Equilibrate	
	#	Segment Description			_	Initial temperature	
	1	<b>å</b> ↑Equilibrate at 50.00 °C				Ramp	
	2	I''Ramp 5.00 °C/min to 200.00 °C			8	<ul> <li>Isothermal</li> </ul>	
						r Iso-track	
					- I - F	* Step	
					-	Increment	
					1	Modulate temperature	
					C	) Repeat	
					C C	Repeat until final temp	
					1	Abort next segment on lim	it
					0	Sampling interval	
					<u>i</u> +	🛿 Gas	
						Event	
	<u> </u>				▁▏▕▙	Data storage	-
		ОК	Cance		Help		

segments are added, moved, or deleted from the method using the dragand-drop technique. Collectively this group of segments makes up a method. Up to 60 segments can be contained in a method.

The next several pages provide you with brief instructions on how you can handle and manipulate methods.

3-22 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

## Importing/Exporting Methods

You may use the **Method Editor** window to import (using the 🔁 button)

an existing method file to use, or export (using the 📘 button) just the

method portion of the procedure to file. These last two options provide compatibility with the previous generation TA Instruments Windows® NT and OS/2 software. (When you use the *Advantage* software, procedure files replace method files.)

## Creating and Editing Files

You can create or open a method file for editing using the **Method Editor** window as follows:

 Click the button to create a new method, this will clear the existing name and segment description list to create a new method. or Import an existing method, as directed above, to edit a method.

Cive your method a name then select and edit chosen segments.

- 2. Give your method a name, then select and edit chosen segments. See the instructions beginning on the next page to manipulate segments.
- 3. After you finish editing or creating a method, you can save the method

as part of your Custom test using the **Save Procedure** button on the **Procedure Page**.

Windows<sup>®</sup> is a trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-23

### **Adding Segments**

To add a segment to any method:

- 1. Click on the desired segment to be added from the Segment Types list to highlight it.
- 2. Use the drag-and-drop method to move the segment: Hold down the mouse button while you move the cursor to the desired position in the list of numbered segments (Segment Description List). Then release the button.
- 3. Edit the entry field(s) as desired, using the Tab key to move between fields.

### **Appending a Segment**

To append a segment to the end of a method, do one of the following:

- Double click on the desired segment to be added from the Segment Types list.
- Click on the desired segment to be added, then press Ctrl + E to append it to the method.
- Follow these steps:
  - 1. Click on the desired segment to be added from the Segment Types list to highlight it.
  - 2. Use the drag-and-drop method to move the segment: Hold down the mouse button while you move the cursor to the empty area under the list of numbered segments (Segment Description List). Then release the button.
  - 3. Edit the entry field(s) as desired, using the Tab key to move between fields.

3-24 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

#### **Removing a Segment**

To remove a segment, just highlight the segment in the list and press the Delete button (or use Ctrl + X).

#### **Editing a Segment**

To edit a segment, double click on the segment and edit its parameters (or select the segment and press Ctrl+E). Use the TAB key to move between the parameters.

#### **Reordering Segments**

To reorder the segments, just drag-and-drop a segment in a new position within the segment description list.

### **Selecting Multiple Segments**

Within the segment description list you can select multiple segments for deletion or copying by holding down the Ctrl key while clicking on the desired segments.

# **Preparing the Instruments**

The experimental preparation steps vary for each instrument. A list of general guidelines are below, however, you should consult the specific instrument operator's manual or online help for detailed instructions.

- 1. Check that the purge gas is adjusted to the recommended flow rate.
- 2. *SDT and TGA only:* The SDT and TGA instruments both require taring procedures, using the empty sample pan(s), before loading the sample. Consult online help for further details.
- 3. *DEA only:* Perform a sensor calibration prior to loading the sample.
- 4. Prepare and load the sample.
- 5. *DMA and TMA only:* A measure step is usually performed for TMA and DMA experiments after you load the sample.

3-26 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

# **Starting An Experiment**

Once the sample has been loaded and the experimental parameters set up, you can start your experiment in one of four ways:

SelectControl/ Start from the instrument menu. When you select Start and there is more than one run in the sequence list, the Start At window (shown here) is displayed to allow you to choose the run to begin. Click on the desired run

Run #	Pan #	Sample Name
⇒1	1	Calcium Oxalate
2	1	Calcium Oxalate
3	1	Calcium Oxalate
4	1	Calcium Oxalate

to move the run

arrow to that run number, then select OK.

Click on the button on the tool bar. If more than one run is

contained in the run sequence, the scheduled run (run with the arrow pointing to it) will be executed. To schedule a run, prior to starting the experiment, move the pointer (cursor) along the left of the run numbers, you should see the pointer change to an arrow. When it becomes an arrow, you can then click the mouse to position the arrow next to the selected run number. This run becomes the scheduled run, which is the experiment that will be run when **Start** is selected.

- The scheduled run can also be executed by double clicking on the red run arrow (
  ) in the Sequence Pane.
- Schedule the desired run using the controller software (as outlined above), then press the START key on the instrument itself.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 3-27

# Monitoring Running Experiments

Once your experiment has been started, you can monitor its progress easily with the *Advantage* software. Any one of the four views provide information regarding the running experiment:

- Click the work to select the Real Time Plot view. This displays the **Sequence Pane, RealTime Plot, Signal Display Pane, Running Segment Pane**, and the status line. This view allows you to monitor alot of information at once.
- Double click on the real time plot to switch to the RealTime Plot Full

Screen view or click on the button. This view allows you to monitor the data as it is plotted.

• Click the **button to select the Experimental View** or click the

button to select the **Table View**. These views allow you to monitor the running experiment while setting up the next run.

3-28 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE



### **Overview**

TA Instruments' Universal Analysis program allows you to analyze data from various thermal analysis instruments. There are options available in the program that allow you to customize the way the data is graphed and to place limits on the range of data used for analysis.

The logical order to analyze a data file is as follows:

- Choose a data file
- Verify your sample information
- Draw the graph
- Rescale and customize the graph
- Analyze the data
- View and/or print the results reports.

As you read through this guide, remember that we are presenting basic information to allow you to get up and running with this program. This guide gives you a brief set of instructions to allow you to perform analysis on a data file. For further details regarding the use of Universal Analysis refer to the Universal Analysis online manual or the context-sensitive help associated with the program.

# *ThermalAdvantage* UniversalAnalysis

To start the Universal Analysis program:

Select **Start/Programs/TA Thermal Advantage/TA Universal Analysis** or double click on the shortcut icon, if available. The starting window is displayed

-^\	U	nive	rsal	Ana	lysi	s																			-	Π×
Ei	le	₩in	dow	<u>Η</u> ε	elp																					
é	6			27	×.	₩.	巒	翴	6	5	밭	1	2	y	y	<u>##</u>	$\boldsymbol{\nabla}$	$\mathbf{\tilde{V}}$	À	八	$\mathcal{T}_{i}$	4	Ą.	Ľ	<u>#</u>	2
	_	_				_	_				_		 _			_		_		_	_				 _	

## Choosing a Data File

The *Thermal Advantage* program is shipped with several demonstration data files that you can use when learning how to operate the software. We will be using a demo file called DSC-PET.001 throughout this chapter.

To locate and open a data file on disk follow these steps:

1. Click on provide or select **File/Open** from the main menu, the window shown here is displayed.

Open Data File	B			? ×
Look jn:	🔁 Dsc	- <b>E</b>	*	🔽 Preview 🔲 All text 🔲 Quick open
<ul> <li>2010dset.in</li> <li>2910dseb.a</li> <li>2910dtab.ep</li> <li>2910dtab.ep</li> <li>2910dtat.au</li> <li>2920dseb.e</li> <li>2920dsec.e</li> </ul>	1	Cpsample.000  Dsc-cure.001  Dsc-pet.001  Soc.pet.001  Sokin.001  Mdsc132.100	Mdsc132. Mdsc132. Mdscpet.( Purity.001 test.mth Tskin.001	Run 63 Module DSC Standard Cell Sample PET (Quenched from the Melt) Size 7.86800 mg Method RT->300°C @ 10°C/min Operator Applications Laboratory Comment He Purge=25mL/min Exotherm Up Date 10-May-95 Time 14:44
File <u>n</u> ame:	Dsc-pet.001		<u>O</u> pen	
Files of type:	All Files (*.*)	•	Cancel	
File path:	C:\Program Files\TA Instrum	ents\TA\Data\DSC	<u>H</u> elp	

- 2. Locate the TA\Data\DSC folder to locate the DSC demonstration files. Select the DSC-PET.001 demonstration file. Click on this file and a preview of the sample information is displayed, if you have the **Preview** box checked.
- 3. Click **Open**. The **Data File Information** window, shown on the next page, is displayed. (To bypass the next window, you can check the **Quick Open** box on the window shown above.)

Data File Inform	ation				x
File: Name: E: Date: 10	\TA\Data\DSC\E I-May-95 14:44	)sc-pet.001			<u>S</u> ignals <u>U</u> nits
Module type: DSC Standar	d Cell				Instr Params Data Limits
Parameters: Sample:	PET (Quencł	ned from the M	elt)		
Size:	7.8680	mg			
Operator:	Applications I	Laboratory			
Comment:	He Purge=25	e TU C∕min imL/min			
Exotherm:	Up	•	Cell Constant:	1.6214	
<< <u>P</u> revious	OK D	<u>R</u> estore	Same <u>A</u> s	Cancel	Help

- 4. Make any corrections needed to the information displayed on the screen.
- 5. Click on the **Signals** button. The window shown on the next page appears.

## Selecting Signals

The **Signal Selection** window (shown here) is used to choose signals that are used to plot the analysis data.

Signa	l Selecti	ion						×
rrY1:								
	Signal:	Heat Flow (W/g)				Туре:	Normal	•
Y2:								
	Signal:	Not Used			•	Туре:	Normal	•
Y3:								
	Signal:	Not Used			•	Туре:	Normal	-
Y4:								
	Signal:	Not Used			•	Туре:	Normal	•
_X:-								
0	Time (m	in)						
•	Temper	ature (°C)						
C	Signal:	Heat Flow (W/g)			•	Туре:	Normal	•
			OK	<u>S</u> ave	<u>D</u> efault		Cancel	<u>H</u> elp

- 1. Select the desired y-axis signals to plot and their Type from the drop-down lists. In this example, select Heat flow, Normal type for the Y1 signal.
- 2. Select the desired x-axis signal to plot from the radio buttons displayed at the bottom of the window. In this example, select Temperature.
- 3. Click the OK button when you have selected the signals to be plotted. The window shown on the next page is displayed.

NOTE: Click the **Save** button to save the program parameters listed on this window to the program .ini file.



• etc.

The capabilities of the Universal Analysis program can be accessed through the menus or the tool bar. For more detailed information consult the *Thermal Advantage* Universal Analysis online manual.

4–6

### Parts of the Window

The Universal Analysis main window provides access to all of the functions needed to customize and analyze your data file graph.

There may be multiple **Data File** windows and one curve overlay plot open in Universal Analysis at one time. The window title bar identifies the data file. This section gives you basic information on the main window.

You will see references to the window parts shown in the figure below, throughout the literature and online help associated with Universal Analysis.

Title Bar	MainN	enu Dete File	Nindow Title Ba	ar Di G	Minimize Maximiz	el zel
lcon Tool	IBar /	Title Bar		DataFile	Close E	Buttons
	is Grada Analuza Taak	Now Window Hold				
	lan Anayze 100a		╵ ╝╒═╢╞ <del>╽╡</del> ┑╾╽┑╼╢╶┚		XX NO. AND DO	
Si TGA-Caox 0	01					
Si 📲 Tma-cca			/			
S: 📲 Dsc	pet.001					
Sample	: PET (Quenched	from the Melt)	DSC/F1	Le: E:\TA\Data\[	DSC\Dsc-pet.001	
	0.4		. /			
	0.2-		Δ ′			
	0.0-		1			
	a ; ≩-0.2- \		/ \			
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	-04-			~ ~		
				$\sim$ $\sim$ $\sim$		
	-0.6-			$\setminus$		
	-0.8-			V		
	-1.0	50 100	150 20	0 250		
	ŝo	Те	mperature (°C)	ı	Jniversal V2.00	

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4-7

## Main Menu

The main menu is used to access the various functions that can be performed on the data file. When you first open Universal Analysis, a limited menu is available as seen here.



After you have opened a data file (see page 4-3) the rest of the menu options are available as seen in the figure below.



🐴 Universal Analysis												
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>R</u> escale	<u>G</u> raph	<u>A</u> nalyze	<u>T</u> ools	⊻iew	<u>M</u> acros	$\underline{W}\text{indow}$	<u>H</u> elp	2		

Menu Description File Use the File menu to open a data file and perform various functions such as closing any open windows, saving analyses, exporting data, printing, etc. Edit Use the Edit menu to perform various editing functions on

the current graph such as deleting and adjusting results,

The table that follows provides a brief description of the main menu items.

Rescale	Use the Rescale menu options to change the limit points	
	and analysis range. You can change the axis scaling and	
	zoom in on the portion of the graph that will be analyzed	
	using these options.	

and annotating graphs.

(table continued)

4–8 Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

Menu	Description
Graph	Use the Graph menu to select options that allow you to set up your graphs by changing signals, units, parameters, data limits, overlaying curves, etc.
Analyze	Use the Analyze menu to choose the type of analysis that you want to perform on the current data file. This menu reflects the type of analyses available for the particular type of data file that is currently active.
Tools	Use the Tools menu to select from a list of different types of functions that can performed on the current graph. You can smooth, shift, and/or rotate the curve and perform a linear transformation on either axis. If you change your mind, you can remove the curve shifts.
View	Use the View menu to view and edit reports .
Window	Use the Windows menu to arrange the currently open windows in different configurations.
Help	Use the Help menu to access help topics, an online manual, and product information.

### Tool Bar

At the top of the Universal Analysis main window is a tool bar that allows you to perform the same operations found in the menus with the click of a button. You can customize the tool bar to reflect those options that you use most



# Performing Basic Program Operations

Three basic operations are explained in this manual: rescaling, integrate peak analysis, and obtaining reports. For further details refer to the Universal Analysis online manual or context-sensitive help.

### Rescaling the Graph

When analyzing data on a curve, it is often easier to zoom in on the portion that will be analyzed. To do this you can use zoom box or one of the other **Rescale** options.

### Using the Zoom Box

The **Zoom Box** provides the fastest way to rescale. You can easily expand a portion of the curve for analysis using the mouse. To zoom in on a particular portion of the curve for analysis, follow these steps:





mouse, a zoom box will be drawn from the original point position (shown above).

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE \_\_\_\_\_ 4-11

Move the mouse to draw a box encompassing the area of the curve to be enlarged.

2. Release



is enlarged as seen in the figure here.

This process can be used repeatedly to expand a smaller portion of the curve. To return back to the most recent scale changes, press **Ctrl-U** (**Previous Limits**).

4-12 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

## Rescaling Using the Menu

You can also pe rescaling opera menu, the subr	erform more specific types of ations. Select <b>Rescale</b> from the main nenu shown here is displayed.	<u>M</u> anual Zoom Out Ctrl+Z <u>P</u> revious Limits Ctrl+U
Select one of th menu and desc	e rescaling options shown in the ribed in the table below.	<u>F</u> ull Scale Axis Full Scale <u>A</u> ll <u>C</u> ommon Scale <u>S</u> tack Axes
Menu Item	Description	E <u>x</u> act Scaling X <u>E</u> xact Scaling Y
Manual	Used to enter numerical values for s interval, tick interval, and label offse	tart, stop, label et.
Cursor	Uses graphical cursor entry to resca	le the graph.
Zoom Out	When you select the Zoom Out optio image size and make it appear smal option once to move out one level.	on, you will reduce the ler. Click on this
	Shortcut Key: Ctrl-Z	
Previous Limits	The Previous Limits option redraws as it appeared before the most recent the scaling options selected from the affected by this menu option, any chor or annotation are not affected. Select second time will return the graph bac changes.	the graph t scale changes. Only Rescale menu are nanges made in color ting Previous Limits a neck to the most recent
	Shortcut Key: Ctrl-U	
		(table continued)

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4-13

Menu Item	Description
Full Scale	The Full Scale option redraws the graph as it first appeared when you generated it from the data file. The graph is autoscaled to the minimum and maximum data values for the selected axis only.
Common Scale	( <i>Available with 2 or more axes graphed.</i> ) Adjusts all common axes (those with the same units), to the same scaling magnitude as the selected axis.
Stack Axes	(Available with 2 or more axes graphed.) When you select Stack Axes, the y-axes are adjusted so that the curves on the axes are stacked, one above the other, with no curves from one axes overlapping the curves of another axes.
Exact Scaling X	Check this option to have the axis plotted using the exact range of the x-coordinates found in the data file or rescale zoom box. Leave this menu item unchecked and the data will be autoscaled when applicable. When exact scaling is not selected, the plot axis is drawn with evenly spaced axis labels that fall on the corners of the plot. This is the default setting.
Exact Scaling Y	Check this option to have the axis plotted using the exact range of the y-coordinates found in the data file or rescale zoom box. Leave this menu item unchecked and the data will be autoscaled when applicable. When exact scaling is not selected, the plot axis is drawn with evenly spaced axis labels that fall on the corners of the plot. This is the default setting.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4–14 –

# **Analyzing the Curve**

**Options**/

the main menu.

Integrate Peak To access the Analyze menu, you can: Pea<u>k</u> Max... Signal Max... Select Analyze from the main menu. (DSC • Glass Transition... Analyze menu shown here.) Onset Point... Oxidation Temp... or Slope... Running Integral... Position the pointer in the graph area • and right click to display the pop-up menu. Curve Value At X... Curve <u>V</u>alue At Y... Label At X,Y.... NOTE: The pop-up menu may be Analysis Range ۲ customized by selecting File/

The general analyze options are described briefly in the table beginning below. For information on all of the **Analyze** options, refer to the context-sensitive help or the manual (**Help/Manual**) found in the Universal Analysis program.

Pop-Up Menu page from

Options...

Option	Description
Integrate Peak	Calculates the heat of transition, onset temperature of melting peak, peak maximum temperature, and peak area.
Peak Max	Determines the height of a peak relative to a linear baseline.
Glass Transition	Determines the glass transition of a polymer or transition temperature by calculating the onset, end, and inflection of a step transition. (table continued)

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4–15

Option	Description	
Onset Point	Determines the onset of any thermal transition that changes the baseline slope.	
<b>Oxidation</b> <b>Temp/Time</b> (DSC Only)	Measures the oxidation onset temperature or time for a sample held in an oxidizing atmosphere.	
Slope	Calculates the average slope of a selected region of the curve.	
Running Integral	Plots the integral of data from another curve. (Available when the Y-4 axis curve is vacant.)	
Curve Value at X/Y	• Determines the x and y coordinates for any point on the curve.	
Label at X,Y	Determines the x and y coordinates for any point within the graph limits.	
Analysis Range	Use the Analysis Range option to set the analysis range from portions of the original x-axis range, thus confining your data for analysis purposes to the chosen range. Data outside this range becomes invisible to the analysis functions, but analyses already performed on these curves are retained.	
	NOTE: Additional options may appear in the analysis menu based on signal type (e.g., DSC, TGA, TMA, DMA, and DEA).	

4–16 —

Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide

### Integrate Peak

In this section we will use the integrate peak linear analysis option to demonstrate the basic analysis steps. You can apply these basic steps to all types of analyses in the Universal Analysis program. For further details on analysis options consult the *Thermal Advantage* Universal Analysis online manual or context-sensitive help.

We will use the **Analyze/Integrate Peak/Linear** option to perform a peak integration using a linear baseline. A linear baseline is defined as a straight line drawn between the selected start and stop limits. It is used when the baseline varies directly (linearly) with time.

- 1. Click on the appropriate Y-number label displayed above the desired axis on the graph to select that axis, if more than one y-axis is displayed.
- 2. Select Analyze/Integrate Peak/Linear from the main menu, from the pop-

up menu, or click the 🕎 button.

The markers are displayed. (See pages 4-19 and 4-20 for tips on selecting, positioning, and activating markers.)

- 3. Double click at the point on the curve where you want the baseline to begin (before the transition) to position the first marker. The next marker becomes active.
- 4. Double click at the point on the curve where you want the baseline to end (after the transition) to position the second marker.
- 5. Right click to display the **Analyze pop-up** menu (shown here), then select **Accept Limits** (or press Enter). The peak integration analysis results are displayed. See the figure on the next page for an example.

Accept Limits
<u>M</u> anual Limits
Auto <u>L</u> imits
<u>C</u> ancel
Point <u>1</u>
Point <u>2</u>

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4–17



NOTE: You can change the parameters of this analysis by setting the options found on the Analysis Options -**Onset/Peak Integration Page.** 

- Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

4-18 -

## Tips on Using Markers (Positioning and Selecting)

Markers are lines that are used to select points on a graph during rescaling and analysis operations. When using markers, keep in mind the following tips:

### Active vs. Inactive Markers

- Only one marker is active at any time.
- The active marker can be indicated two ways depending on the action or file: As a full-length vertical and horizontal line or as a single vertical or horizontal line.



- To move active markers with the mouse follow these steps:
  - 1. Grab the marker with the left mouse button as follows: Position the point at the intersection of the cross or anywhere on the single line. Press and hold down the left mouse button.
  - 2. Drag the marker to the desired position and release the mouse button.
- To move the active marker with the keyboard, use the right and left arrow to move the marker or hold down the Ctrl key while using the arrows to move the marker 10 pixels at a time.

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4–19

• To move an active marker quickly you can also position the pointer at the desired location and double click the left mouse button to move the marker to this point. This action causes the next marker to become active.

### Activating a Marker

To activate (select) the next marker you can use any one of these methods:

- a. Position the pointer over the inactive marker and click the left mouse button.
- b. Right click to display the **Analyze pop-up** menu (shown here) and select the next point from the menu.

<u>A</u> ccept Limits <u>M</u> anual Limits Auto <u>L</u> imits <u>C</u> ancel
Point <u>1</u> Point <u>2</u>

### Entering Manual Limits for Markers

To numerically enter the limits for the marker positions using the keyboard, follow these steps with the markers displayed on the graph:

 Right click to display the Analyze pop-up menu and select Manual Limits from the menu. The window shown here is displayed.

Enter the desired



limit points and click the **OK** 

button. The analysis is performed using the limits entered and the results are displayed.

2.

- Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE
# **Printing Plots**

You can print plots at any time during your use of the Universal Analysis program.

To print the plot follow these steps:

- 1. Select the window containing the curve you want to print. You can use the **Windows** menu or just click on the desired window to select it.
- 2. Select **File/Print** from the main menu. The standard print window is displayed. Select the **OK** button to print using the default printer and the options shown.

or

2. Click on the 🚑 button to print directly to the default printer.

# **Generating and Viewing Reports**

Universal Analysis contains many different types				
of reports that many be viewed, edited, or printed				
using the View menu (shown here). In addition,				
you can create a customized report using the				
Custom Report option. A brief description of all				
the <b>View</b> options are listed below. The items				
marked with an asterisk (*) are only available in				
Universal Analysis 2000 and require either				
Microsoft Word <sup>®</sup> or Microsoft Excel <sup>®</sup> to function.				

 <u>Results</u>
 <u>Data Table</u>

 <u>Data Table</u>
 <u>Parameter Block...</u>

 <u>Method Log...</u>
 <u>Current Macro Report...</u>

 <u>Current Macro Report...</u>
 <u>Autoqueue Report...</u>

 <u>Autoqueue Log...</u>
 <u>Report Editor...</u>

 <u>Spreadsheet...</u>
 <u>Custom Report</u>

Option	Description
Results	Use this function to view the results of your analysis in a written report form or spreadsheet* form.
Data Table	Use the Data Table function to display the sample information and raw data points from the data file in either report or spreadsheet* form. For multiplexed data, such as frequency or amplitude, a separate table is generated for each multiplexed value.
Parameter Block	Use the Parameter Block function to view a listing of the experimental parameters that were used when obtaining the data stored in the data file.
Method Log	Use the Method Log function to view a listing of the method segments that were used to obtain the data file.
	Each experimental method is made up of a group of segments, which are preprogrammed instructions that are sent to the analytical instrument.
Current Macro Banart	Use the Current Macro function to view the list of steps contained in the currently open macro.
кероп	(table continued)

4-22 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

Description
Use the Autoqueue Report function to view the list of records contained in the autoqueue for autoanalysis. Each record is made up of the data filename, macro filename, and associated macro.
Use the Autoqueue Log function to view the log of the results obtained during autoanalysis. Each item in the log is made up of the pass/fail message, the data file-name, the macro filename, the associated macro, and a short comment.
Use the Report Editor function to open the Report Editor program. (Additional report options are available with the Autoanalysis option.)
Use this function to open the Microsoft Excel® program with a blank first sheet.
Select <b>View/Custom Report/New</b> to create and edit customized Universal Analysis report templates.

Requires Microsoft Excel®, which is a registered trademark of the Microsoft Corporation.

\*\* Requires Microsoft Word® and Microsoft Excel®, which are registered trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation.

# Viewing Reports

To view, edit, or print the various types of reports in Universal Analysis follow these steps:

- 1. Select the window containing the curve you want to use to generate the report. You can use the **Windows** menu or just click on the desired window to select it.
- 2. Select one of the applicable options from the **View** menu. (See the table beginning on the next page for the available **View** options.)
- 3. Edit or print the report using the available functions.

See the figure below for an example of the results report.

- <b>^</b> v	leport Ed	itor - Dsc-p	et.001.rtf					ļ	_ 🗆 ×
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>I</u> ns	ert <u>H</u> elp							
<b>2</b>	8	<b>∽</b> % ∄	a 🖪 🖸	ourier New	•	10		•	BZ
<b>↓</b> ↑	- 1	<del>   </del>		+ +	+ +		+ +	+ +	 ∲
TA San Si: Ce. Ope Met Con Exc	Instru mple: ze: 7. 11 Cons erator: thod: mment: otherm:	ments Th PET (Qua 8680 mg stant: 1 Applic RT>300 He Purg Up	hermal . enched : g L.6214 cations )°C @ 10 ge=25mL,	Analysis from the Laborato J°C/min /min	DSC Melt) ry	Standar	d Cell		
Pe	ak Star °C 115.26	t Onset °C 130.05	: Max °C 138.2:	Hei 1 0.5639	ght W/g	Stop °C 163.67	Are 32.28	a J/g	•
Line:	19 Col:	1							

4-24

- Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

# Opening the Spreadsheet Program

Use the **View/Spreadsheet** function to open the Microsoft Excel® program (which must be present on your system) with a blank first sheet.

NOTE: If you want to bring the data file into Microsoft Excel, select View/Data Table/Spreadsheet from the menu.

If you need help using the program, see the documentation provided with the program.

## Creating a Custom Report Template

The Custom Report Editor is used to create and edit customized Universal Analysis report templates. The templates are created using any number of report objects such as plots, results, parameters, method log, data tables, etc. The report object boxes (which represent the plots, results, etc.) can be sized and positioned as desired to fit on a single piece of paper. After a template file is created and saved, it can be used over and over again with different data files and can even be linked to an Autoanalysis macro to further automate the process of analysis and report generation.

The Custom Report Editor program requires that you have Microsoft Word® 97 or Word 2000 installed on your computer. In order for the spreadsheet function to operate, Microsoft Excel® must be installed on your computer.

You can create templates that call for only one file or templates that use multiple files. A template using one file will create the report from the current file. A template that requires multiple files will prompt you to select the files desired.

NOTE: Only one Custom Report window at a time is available within the Universal Analysis program.

Universal Analysis generates custom report documents by directly running Microsoft Word and Microsoft Excel from within Universal Analysis. Each report object inserted is dynamically created at run time and inserted into a

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE 4–25

single integrated Word document. Once the Word document is created, you can edit any spreadsheets within the document by double-clicking on the object to open Excel with Word.

You can insert, edit, import, export, and print the report objects using the menus and tool bar buttons. For further information see the following pages.

#### Basic Instructions on Creating a Template

There are many different ways to create a report template in Universal Analysis. The set of steps that follows is intended to give you a basic idea of the steps involved with creating a custom report template. For more detailed information see the online help associated with the program.

1. Open the desired data file(s) and analyze the data to obtain the results you want.

NOTE: You can create a report template with no files open (which creates empty report objects). The report objects will be filled in when a data file is open and the appropriate information is supplied. For example, there can be no results report created if no analysis is done on the open file.

- 2. Select **View/Custom Report/New** from the main menu. The Custom Report Editor program opens.
- 3. Select the desired object to insert in your template from the **Insert** menu or from the tool bar.
- 4. Size the object block by positioning the cursor over the border of the block and hold down the mouse while moving the cursor.
- 5. Drag-and-drop the object anywhere you desire on the template window. This window represents an 8 ½ by 11-inch page.
- 6. Repeat steps 3 through 5 for as many objects as desired. Some objects, such as Text and Data Table insertion, require that you enter information to configure that object.

4-26 — Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

7. Format the objects as desired. See the figure to the below for an example of a finished template.

-^v	Custom Report Editor - e:	xample1.uat		
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>I</u> nsert <u>H</u> elp			
Ē	· 🖬 🗤 🎒 🗒 🗒	I 🗔 🗈 💩 🗉	) 👯 🗱 🔛 🔤	
	Custom Re	port Universal An	alysis 2000	
	Data Report 1	Method Log 1	Results Sheet 1	
	Parameter Report 1		Data Sheet 1	
		4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Normal Plot 1			

<u>R</u>esults

Data Table

Parameter Block...

- 8. Click the 🔚 button or select File/Save from the menu to save your template. Once you save this file, it will appear in the View/ Custom Report menu as seen here.
- Method Log... Current Macro Report... Autoqueue Report... Autoqueue Log... Report Editor ... 9. Export the report to Spread Sheet... MicrosoftWord®by Custom Report Þ <u>N</u>ew... clicking on the 👿 button <u>E</u>dit... or by selecting **File/Export** DSCPETtemplate to Word from the menu. If UAtemplate1 you have more than one UAtemplate2

۲

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

4-27

version of an object placed in your template (for example, Normal Plot 1 and Normal Plot 2) the program will prompt you to select the data file that should be linked to each object. If there is only one data file open, the program will assume that this is the source for the object.

See the figure below for an example of a finished report.



# Saving the Results and the Program Session

If you want to save the analysis results or the entire program session in a file, you can do so.

- Select **File/Save Analysis** from the main menu to save the current analyses in the data file for future recall.
- Select **File/Save Session** from the main menu to save the current state of the Universal Analysis program to a file for future recall (*i.e.*, curve overlay plot can be saved).

# **Exiting the Program**

When you have finished analyzing your data, you can exit the program by selecting **File/Exit** from the main menu.

4-30 — Thermal Advantage Getting Started Guide



#### Α

Analysis Parameters 4-16

Analyze 4-17

linear 4-17

buffer cable 3-3

#### custom report template. See also template creating 4-26

#### D

data analyzing 4-15

data files selecting 4-3

## Ε

exit program 4-29

#### С

B

baseline

Experimental View Pane 3-7 closing Thermal Advantage programs 2-3 F Common Scale 4-14 File 4-8 Controller menu 3-3 files Controller window 3-2 locating 2-4 Cursor Rescale 4-13 Full Scale 4-14 curve analyzing 4-15 G

Curve Value 4-16			
Custom Report Editor program	4-25	general information x	
to 4-28		Glass transition 4-15	

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE -

I**--1** 

GPIB board 1-2

#### L

Graph 4-9

graph rescaling 4-11, 4-13 stacking axes 4-14

guide using x

#### Η

help context-sensitive 4-15 online manual 4-15

#### Ι

installing instrument software 1-4

Instrument Control introduction 3-2

Instrument Control window(s) 3-2

Instrument window 3-5 switching between 3-6

instruments bringing online 3-3 observing status 3-4 reconfiguring 3-3

Integrate Peak 4-15 linear analysis option 4-17 License Agreement iii

#### Μ

main window parts of 4-7

manual limits entering 4-20

Manual Rescale 4-13

marker activating 4-20 entering manual limits for 4-20

markers moving 4-19

menu Analyze 4-15 Analyze pop-up 4-20 Controller 3-3 main 4-8, 4-9 pop-up 4-15 Rescale 4-13 View 4-22, 4-24

Microsoft Excel opening in Universal Analysis 4-25

Microsoft Word 97/2000 4-25

#### N

Notes, Cautions, and Warnings xi

I**--2** 

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE

#### 0

#### R

open Thermal Advantage programs 2-2

operation basic 4-11

Onset Point 4-16

overview all instruments 3-3

#### Р

parameters analysis 4-18

Peak Max 4-15

plot customizing 4-9 printing 4-21 rescaling 4-8, 4-11

plot options selecting 4-5

Point Value 4-16

pop-up menus using 2-5

Previous Limits 4-13

RealTime Plot Pane 3-9 remote key. See also system key Report Editor program 4-24 report objects 4-26 reports editing 4-24 printing 4-24 viewing 4-24 Requirements software 1-2 Rescale 4-8, 4-13 rescale plots using the zoom box 4-11 results saving 4-29 Running Integral 4-16

## S

saving program sessions 4-29 results 4-29

Sequence Pane 3-7

sessions saving 4-29

Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE -----

I**--3** 

Signal Display Pane 3-8

#### V

W

View 4-9

window panes

functions of 3-7

Sequence Pane 3-7 Signal Display Pane 3-8 Table View Pane 3-8

Experimental View Pane 3-7

RealTime Plot Pane 3-9

signal selection 4-5

Signals 4-9

Slope 4-16

software license iii

Stack Axes 4-14

#### Т

windows number open 4-7 Table View Pane 3-8 Windows menu 3-6 template creating 4-26 example 4-27 Windows® NT 2-1 starting 1-3 templates Ζ creating 4-25 Thermal Advantage zoombox 4-11 closing programs 2-4 description 2-1 Zoom Out 4-13

tool bar 3-10, 4-10 to 4-11

Instrument Control 3-2

## U

Universal Analysis data file 4-3 exiting 4-29 integrate peak option 4-17 introduction 4-1 starting 4-2

I**--4** 

-Thermal Advantage GETTING STARTED GUIDE